

Part 3- Release of Mortgage

LAND TITLE PRACTICE MANUAL

Updated: 1 August 2025



Table of Contents

PART 3- RELEASE OF MORTGAGE	2
[3-0000] GENERAL LAW	2
[3-0030] Release where there is more than one mortgagee [3-0040] Release where there is more than one mortgagor	2
Absent or incapable mortgagee	
[3-1000] LEGISLATION	3
Application of the Land Title Act 1994 to the Water Act 2000 ^{2,3}	
[3-2000] PRACTICE	
[3-2000] Change of name of mortgagee	4
[3-4000] FORMS	4
[3-4000] General guide to completion of forms	
[3-5000] ECONVEYANCING	7
[3-5010] Electronic Conveyancing and Electronic Conveyancing Document	7
[3-5105] Electronic Conveyancing Mandate	
[3-5300] Attachments – Form 3 (electronic)	
[3-5400] Execution and Certification	
[3-5600] Electronic Form	
[3-5700] Electronic Form Notes for Completion	
[3-7000] CASE LAW	
[3-7000] Corozo Pty Ltd v Westpac Banking Corporation (No 2) [1988] 2 Qd R 481	
[3-7010] Re Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd [1993] 2 Qd R 477[3-7020] Wayne v Kusznierz & Anor [1973] 2 NSWLR 799	
[3-7030] <i>Re Piromalli</i> [1977] 1 NSWLR 39	
[3-7040] Associated Securities Limited v Perry [1978] Qd R 13	
[3-7050] Groongal Pastoral Company (In Liq) v Falkiner (1924) 35 CLR 157	
[3-8000] FEES	12
[3-9000] CROSS REFERENCES AND FURTHER READING	13

Part 3- Release of Mortgage

[3-0000] General Law

A mortgage that is registered under the *Land Title Act 1994*, *Land Act 1994* or *Water Act 2000* over a lot or an interest operates as a charge on the lot or interest for the debt or liability secured by the mortgage (s. 74 of the Land Title Act or s. 341 of the Land Act).

Once the debt or liability secured by the mortgage has been satisfied, the mortgagor is entitled to receive a release of the mortgage from the mortgagee.

A release (Form 3 – Release of Mortgage), executed by the mortgagee, may be registered. On registration of the release, the mortgaged lot or interest ceases to be subject to the charge, to the extent shown in the release (s. 81 of the Land Title Act or s. 342 of the Land Act).

A notice under s. 73(1)(c) of the Water Act, which is taken to be a mortgage under the Land Title Act, may also be released by a Form 3 - Release of Mortgage^{2, 3}.

[3-0010] Full or partial release

If the mortgagee releases all the property securing the liability under the mortgage from the mortgage, a full release is given. A partial release is given where the release is only in respect of some of the property securing the liability under the mortgage. In such a case, the release will be a total release of that which is specified in Item 2 of the Form 3, but only a partial release of the mortgage as a whole.

The Registrar does not search the register to ensure that a purported full release in fact releases all of the lots or interests secured by the mortgage. The assumption is made that the mortgagee has included all of the lots or interests that are or remain secured by the mortgage. If it is later discovered that further lots or interests remain subject to the mortgage, another release by the mortgagee in respect of those lots or interests remaining must be lodged.

[3-0020] deleted

[3-0030] Release where there is more than one mortgagee

A mortgage of a lot or interest may be given to more than one mortgagee and those mortgagees may hold their respective interests either as joint tenants or as tenants in common.

A mortgage cannot be released by only one of a number of mortgagees as relates to that mortgagee's interest only (s. 81(2) of the *Land Title Act 1994* or s. 342(2) of the *Land Act 1994*).

The survivor/s of joint mortgagees may give a release of the mortgage. In this case a Form 4 – Request to Record Death of the deceased mortgagee/s must be lodged prior to the release.

In the case of the death of the sole or last surviving mortgagee, a Form 5, 5A or 6 – Transmission by Death must precede the release by the personal representative/devisee/legatee (for trustees, see part 51 – Trusts).

If the mortgagees are registered as tenants in common, even if the mortgage itself states that the money is advanced on joint account, it is necessary to transmit the interest in the mortgage to the personal representative of any deceased mortgagee and for the release to be executed by the surviving mortgagees and the personal representative, notwithstanding s. 113(3) of the *Property Law Act 2023*.

[3-0040] Release where there is more than one mortgagor

A mortgage given by mortgagors who hold as tenants in common can be released as relates only to the interest of one of such mortgagors.

A mortgage given by mortgagors who hold as joint tenants may not be released as relates to the interest of only one of such mortgagors. However, if the joint tenancy is first severed by transfer (see part 1, esp [1-2300]), the mortgage may then be released against the severing mortgagor's interest.

[3-0050] Persons entitled to a release

A mortgagor has a right to the release of a mortgage upon the satisfaction of the liability secured by the mortgage, and any assignee of the mortgagor's interest in the lot or other interest is also entitled on the same basis to a release of the mortgage.

Where a mortgagor is deceased, this entitlement vests in the person in whom the deceased mortgagor's property is vested under s. 45 of the *Succession Act 1981*, subject to s. 45(7) of the Succession Act.

Absent or incapable mortgagee

[3-0060] Section 61 of the Public Trustee Act 1978

Where a mortgage has been paid out, but a discharge cannot be obtained because the mortgagee is:

- absent from Queensland; or
- dead and their estate is unadministered or, in the opinion of the Public Trustee, no person is currently acting in the administration of their estate; or
- a person not known to be alive or dead or a person unable to be found; or
- a company or corporation which has ceased to exist or, in the opinion of the Public Trustee, has ceased to function;
 or
- in the opinion of the Public Trustee, for any other reason unable or unavailable to give a discharge of the mortgage,

the Public Trustee is empowered to execute a release of the mortgage by virtue of s. 61 of the Public Trustee Act. The Public Trustee must be satisfied that there is no other person to do so. The Registrar will look for no other authority to register the release.

[3-0070] Section 136 of the *Property Law Act 2023*

Where a person entitled to redeem a mortgage has obtained a certificate of the registrar of the court under section 136 of the Property Law Act, a Form 14 – General Request giving effect to the order is required to be lodged. A copy of the certificate of the court must be deposited as supporting evidence. For further information refer to Part [14-2312].

[3-0080] Section 601AF of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)

If the mortgagee is a corporation that has ceased to function or has been de-registered, the Australian Securities and Investment Commission may execute a release of mortgage if satisfied that all money owing has been repaid (s. 601AF of the Corporations Act).

[3-1000] Legislation

Application of the Land Title Act 1994 to the Water Act 2000^{2,3}

Under the provisions of the Water Act, an interest or dealing may be registered in a way mentioned in the Land Title Act, subject to some exceptions.

A relevant interest or dealing may be registered in a way mentioned in the Land Title Act:

- a. as if a reference to the freehold land register is a reference to the water allocations register; and
- b. as if a reference to freehold land or land is a reference to a water allocation; and
- c. as if a reference to a lot is a reference to a water allocation; and
- d. with any other necessary changes.

Reference to the registrar of titles in the Land Title Act 1994 and Land Act 1994 and reference to the registrar of water allocations in the Water Act 2000

Refer to [0-8100] and [0-8200] and [0-8300].

[3-2000] Practice

[3-2000] Change of name of mortgagee

If the name of a mortgagee has been changed and the mortgage is being fully released, Item 4 of the Form 3 – Release of Mortgage should include the current name and the former name e.g. 'XYZ CORPORATION LIMITED ACN 001 311 711'.

In addition, either:

- evidence of the change of name must be deposited with the Form 3 Release of Mortgage (e.g. a certified copy of the certificate of registration); or
- reference must be made to the dealing number of a previously registered instrument with which the evidence was
 deposited (the reference may be provided in item 4 e.g. 'Certified copy of the certificate of registration [or other
 evidence] deposited with dealing number [number]' or in a supplementary letter).

Example – Corporation

4. Mortgagee

XYZ CORPORATION LIMITED ACN 001 311 711 FORMERLY EXIT CORPORATION LIMITED ACN 001 311 711. CERTIFIED COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION DEPOSITED WITH DEALING NUMBER 712345678.

For further information about depositing supporting documentation see [60-1030].

[3-2010] Releasing collateral mortgages²

Registration of a collateral mortgage is required when additional, unsecured land is added to a mortgaged lot by re-survey (see part 2, esp [2-2080]) or where two or more water allocations have been amalgamated. The collateral mortgage is necessary so that the whole of the new lot is secured by the mortgage.

Collateral mortgages must not be released before the principal mortgage unless the mortgagee has other registered security over the whole of the lot. If a collateral mortgage were to be released prior to the principal mortgage, the mortgagee would no longer be in a position to exercise its rights over the whole of the lot in the event of default.

[3-4000] Forms

[3-4000] General guide to completion of forms

For general requirements for completion of forms see part 59 – Forms.

RELEASE OF MORTGAGE

FORM 3 Version 4 Page 1 of 1

Land Title Act 1994, Land Act 1994 and Water Act 2000

	_			_	
١,	Dealing Number		X If partial release of the mortgage		
ı	OFFICE USE ONLY		7 ii partai release or the mortgage	*-	
Pı	rivacy Statement				
ar	ollection of information from this form is authorised by legislation nd is used to maintain publicly searchable records. For more formation see the Titles Queensland website.				
1.	Dealing number of mortgage being released	Lodger (Name, address, E-mail & phone number) Lodger LEGAL LODGEMENT SERVICES Code			
	700012438	125 GEORGI BRISBANE (mail@lls.com (07) 3327 800	E STREET QLD 4001 .au	Code BE 325	
2.	Lot on Plan Description		Title Refer	ence	
	LOT 23 ON RP67324		15973044		
3.	Mortgagor				
# C	Only complete if not releasing the debt for all mortgagors				
4.	Mortgagee				
	SUNPAC BANKING CORPORATION ACN 123 456 789				
5.	Discharge/Execution by Mortgagee				
Th	e Mortgagee releases the mortgage as a charge on the lan	nd described in item	1 2.		
	Witnessing officer must be aware of his/her obligat	tions under sectio	n 162 of the Land Title Act	1994	
W	J Burleigh		J Bundall		
	ILLIAM JOHN BURLEIGH		Sunpac Banking Corp duly constituted attorney Ja		
JUSTICE OF THE PEACE (C.DEC) #34567		45/40/0007	under power of attorne		
Witnessing Officer (signature, full name & qualification)		15/10/2007 Execution Date	Mortgagee's	s Signature	
 Wi	itnessing Officer (signature, full name & qualification)	/ / Execution Date	Mortgagee's	Signature	
(Wi	itnessing officer must be in accordance with Schedule 1 the Land Title Act 1994 eg Legal Practitioner, JP, C Dec)			5	

Guide to Completion of Form 3

[3-4010] Item 1

Insert dealing number/s of mortgage/s being released.

[3-4020] Item 2

Freehold Description^{1, 2}

The description of the relevant lot/s should always read 'Lot [no.] on [plan reference]'. Plan references must contain the appropriate prefix (e.g. 'SP' for a survey plan, 'RP' for a registered plan, 'BUP' for a building units plan, 'GTP' for a group titles plan or the relevant letters for crown plans). The area of the lot/s is not shown.

e.g. Lot on Plan Description Title reference

Lot 27 on RP 204939 11223078

Water Allocation Description^{2, 3}

A water allocation should be identified as 'Water Allocation', 'Allocation' or 'WA'. All plans referring to water allocations are administrative plans. Administrative plan is abbreviated to AP as the prefix of the plan identifier.

e.g. Lot on Plan Description Title reference

WA 27 on AP 7900 46012345

State Tenure Description^{1, 3}

The description of the relevant State tenure should always read 'Lot [no.] on [plan reference]'. Plan references must contain the appropriate prefix (e.g. 'CP' for a crown plan).

e.g. Lot on Plan Description Title reference

Lot 27 on CP LIV1234 40567123

[3-4030] Item 3

Only complete if not releasing the debt for all the mortgagors, e.g. if there are three mortgagors who hold their interests as tenants in common and only two are being released, insert in Item 3, e.g. 'Interest of John Able Citizen and Mary Constance Citizen only'.

[3-4040] Item 4

Insert full name of mortgagee. If a mortgage has been registered and then transferred to a new mortgagee, the name appearing in Item 4 should be the name of the transferee and not that of the original mortgagee.

[3-4050] Item 5

Execution by mortgagee. The witnessing officer must be qualified pursuant to Schedule 1 of the *Land Title Act 1994* or s. 73 of the Land Regulation 2020. Form 3 requires the completion of a separate witnessing provision for each signature which is required to be witnessed, even though signatures were made in front of the same witness. Execution by an attorney will require a qualified witness. (For further information, see Part 61 – Witnessing and Execution of Instruments or Documents).

[3-4060] deleted

[3-5000] eConveyancing

[3-5010] Electronic Conveyancing and Electronic Conveyancing Document

Electronic Conveyancing (or eConveyancing) is the term used to refer to the electronic preparation, lodgement, processing and registration of instruments and other documents (Electronic Conveyancing Documents) in accordance with the Land Title Act 1994 (Qld) and the Electronic Conveyancing National Law (Queensland) (the ECNL). eConveyancing is the primary method of conveyancing in Queensland, and its use is mandated for a number of instruments and documents. Refer to parts [3-5105 and 62-6000] for further information on the application of the eConveyancing mandate.

An Electronic Conveyancing Document is a document under the ECNL that is lodged electronically through an Electronic Lodgment Network (see s. 14B of the Land Title Act 1994 and s. 7 of the ECNL).

For more information, refer to Part 62 - eConveyancing.

The terms Electronic Conveyancing and eConveyancing are used interchangeably in this Part and throughout the Land Title Practice Manual.

[3-5100] Scope Restrictions

Refer to the Titles Queensland website for the list of transactions currently available through eConveyancing.

[3-5105] Electronic Conveyancing Mandate

The eConveyancing mandate commenced on 20 February 2023 and applies to all industry professionals who are eligible to become subscribers of an Electronic Lodgment Network Operator (ELNO); as well as to Corporate Entities who are lodging a required instrument.

The mandate, introduced by the Land Title Regulation 2022 provides that certain types of Titles instruments, known as required instruments, must be lodged through an Electronic Lodgment Network (ELN). For more information, refer to Part [62-6000] – eConveyancing Mandate.

The Form 3 – Release of Mortgage is a required instrument under the regulation and is therefore required to be lodged through a ELN unless an exemption applies.

Because the Electronic Lodgement Network Operators (ELNOs) regularly update their functionality in conjunction with Titles Queensland, and the Queensland Revenue Office (QRO), a current list of required instruments and their inclusions and exemptions is maintained on the <u>Titles Queensland website</u> rather than in the Land Title Practice Manual to ensure the information is as current and accurate as possible.

ELN Subscribers should therefore refer to the <u>Titles Queensland website</u> for the list of required instruments to be lodged through eConveyancing as well as any exemptions that may apply. Specifically, ELN Subscribers should confirm that the instrument is not exempt and is included in the mandate before attempting to lodge the instrument by way of eConveyancing.

[3-5110] Exemptions to Required Instruments

There are two categories of exemptions that may apply to required instruments, these are general exemptions, and instrument specific exemptions.

The general exemptions to the mandate are those which are contained in the regulation and apply to all instruments required to be lodged through eConveyancing. These general exclusions can be found in Part [62-6022] of the Manual and on the Titles Queensland website.

Instrument specific exemptions are those exclusions which apply only to a specific instrument (for example a Form 3 – Release of Mortgage) and a list of these exclusions can be found on the <u>Titles Queensland website</u> and are updated from time to time as the functionality of each instrument changes.

[3-5115] When an Exemption Applies

In circumstances where an exemption applies, an Exemption Request Form (ERF) should be completed. For Further information refer to Part [62-6040].

[3-5200] Prescribed Requirements – Form 3 (electronic)

Under the Participation Rules (Queensland) a Prescribed Requirement is a published requirement of the Registrar that Subscribers to an Electronic Lodgment Network are required to comply with.

Currently there are no Prescribed Requirements for a Form 3 (electronic).

[3-5300] Attachments – Form 3 (electronic)

Currently there is no requirement or provision for any document or evidence to be included as an attachment with a Form 3 (electronic).

[3-5400] Execution and Certification

The requirements for digitally signing and making certifications for an Electronic Conveyancing Document are contained in the Participation Rules (Queensland).

[3-5600] Electronic Form

[3-5610] Approved Electronic Form

An instrument of release of mortgage that is an Electronic Conveyancing Document (an eConveyancing release) must be lodged through an Electronic Lodgment Network and be in the form approved by the Registrar under the Electronic Conveyancing National Law (Queensland). The eConveyancing release must be digitally signed by or for the mortgagee/s as required by the approved form and Participation Rules.

A representation of the electronic form approved by the Registrar under s. 7 of the Electronic Conveyancing National Law (Queensland) is shown on the following page.

RELEASE OF MORTGAGE					
	Lodger Details:				
Privacy Statement					
Collection of information from this form is authorised by legislation and is used to maintain publicly searchable records. For more information see the Titles Queensland website.					
1. Dealing number of mortgage being released					
2. Lot on Plan Description	Title Reference				
3. Mortgagor					
4. Mortgagee					
5. Discharge/Execution by Mortgagee					
The Mortgagee releases the mortgage as a charge on the land described in item 2.					
I certify that:					
Signed by:					
For On behalf of					
Dated:					

[3-5620] Electronic Form Example

RELEASE OF MORTGAGE

812345678

SY 100

07/01/2021 09:01:13

Lodger Details:

BIG BANK LAWYERS 125 GEORGE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4001

Privacy Statement

Collection of information from this form is authorised by legislation and is used to maintain publicly searchable records. For more information see the Titles Queensland website.

1. Dealing number of mortgage being released

700012438

2. Lot on Plan Description

LOT 23 ON RP67324

Title Reference

15973044

3. Mortgagor

4. Mortgagee

SUNPAC BANKING CORPORATION ACN 123 456 789

5. Discharge/Execution by Mortgagee

The Mortgagee releases the mortgage as a charge on the land described in item 2.

I certify that:

- 1. The Certifier has taken reasonable steps to ensure that this Registry Instrument or Document is correct and compliant with relevant legislation and any Prescribed Requirement.
- 2. The Certifier has retained the evidence supporting this Registry Instrument or Document.
- 3. The Certifier holds a properly completed Client Authorisation for the Conveyancing Transaction including this Registry Instrument or Document.
- 4. The Certifier has taken reasonable steps to verify the identity of the mortgagee or his, her or its administrator or attorney.

Signed by:

Mary Jones

For BIG BANK LAWYERS

On behalf of SUNPAC BANKING CORPORATION ACN 123 456 789

Dated: 07/01/2021

[3-5700] Electronic Form Notes for Completion

Nil.

[3-6000] deleted

[3-7000] Case Law

[3-7000] Corozo Pty Ltd v Westpac Banking Corporation (No 2) [1988] 2 Qd R 481

In this case it was held that an unregistered transferee of land subject to a registered mortgage has a right upon payment of the debt to insist upon a release from the mortgagee.

[3-7010] Re Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd [1993] 2 Qd R 477

This case discussed the previous case and held that an unregistered lessee did not have the right to pay the debt and obtain a release from the mortgagee, because the equitable interest of the lessee was not enforceable against the registered interest of the mortgagee.

[3-7020] Wayne v Kusznierz & Anor [1973] 2 NSWLR 799

In this case it was held that an equivalent application to one under s. 136 of the *Property Law Act 2023* could not be made *ex parte*, i.e. the mortgagee had to be named as a party in such an application.

[3-7030] Re Piromalli [1977] 1 NSWLR 39

However, in this case it was held that the above regarding the 'mortgagee as a party' rule was not of universal application and if no person could reasonably be named as mortgagee, an *ex parte* application could be made.

[3-7040] Associated Securities Limited v Perry [1978] Qd R 13

This case held that, although a release has the effect of releasing the property from the charge imposed by the mortgage, it does not release the mortgagor from the personal covenants contained in the mortgage. Therefore, if the mortgagor requires a release of the personal covenants, a separate, additional release may need to be prepared and executed by the mortgagee. In this case, the discharge was executed and registered in the mistaken belief that all the money owing had been paid and it was held that the mortgagor was not released from the liability to pay the balance of the mortgage money.

Section 81(3) of the *Land Title Act 1994* is unlikely to change the result in a case such as this, because the section refers to the mortgage being discharged and is silent as to whether the liability for the debt is discharged.

[3-7050] Groongal Pastoral Company (In Liq) v Falkiner (1924) 35 CLR 157

The High Court held that the wording of the discharge in this case **did** simultaneously discharge any personal obligations of the mortgagor. The reasoning of the Court was based on the fact that under the *Real Property Act 1900* (NSW) the instrument of discharge had effect as a deed.

This case, however, was distinguished in *Associated Securities v Perry* (see [3-7040]), even though the form of discharge was in identical terms, on the basis that under the *Real Property Act 1861* (Qld), the form of discharge did not constitute a deed.

[3-8000] Fees

Fees payable to the Titles Registry are subject to an annual review. Refer to the Titles Fee Calculator available online or see [60-8000].

[3-9000] Cross References and Further Reading

Part 1 - Transfer

Part 2 - Mortgage (National Mortgage Form)

Part 62 - eConveyancing

Queensland Conveyancing Law and Practice, CCH Australia Limited (loose-leaf service)

Duncan and Vann, Property Law and Practice in Queensland, Thomson Legal and Regulatory (loose-leaf service)

Duncan, WD and Willmott, L, Mortgages Law in Australia, 2nd edn, The Federation Press, 1996

[3-9050] Notes in text

Note¹ – This numbered section, paragraph or statement does not apply to water allocations.

Note² – This numbered section, paragraph or statement does not apply to State land.

Note³ – This numbered section, paragraph or statement does not apply to freehold land.